IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF
WEST VIRGINIA

APPELLANT'S BRIEF
No. 35546

JEFFREY TAYLOR, as Representative of the
Estate of LEO TAYLOR,

Appellant/Plaintiff

vs.

MHCC, INC f/k/a MARMET HEALTH CARE CENTER;
CANOE HOLLOW PROPERTIES, LLC; GENESIS HEALTH
CARE CORPORATION D/B/A MARMET HEALTH CARE
CENTER; GLENMARK LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY;
GLENMARK ASSOCIATES, INC.; GLENMARK PROPERTIES,
INC.; HELSTAT, INC.; GMA PARTNERSHIP HOLDING
COMPANY, INC.; GMA - MADISON, INC.;
GMA - BRIGHTWOOD, INC.; HORIZON ASSOCIATES,
INC.; HORIZON MOBILE, INC.; HORIZON REHABILITATION,
INC.; GENESIS ELDERCARE CORPORATION;
GENESIS ELDERCARE STAFFING SERVICES, INC.;
GENESIS ELDERCARE MANAGEMENT SERVICES,

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On February 8, 2008, Leo Taylor was admitted to Defendant's health care facility by his wife, Ellen Taylor. As a licensed nursing home, MHCC was subject to the provisions of W.Va. Code §§ 16-5C-1 *et seq.* and W.Va. C.S.R. §§ 64-13 *et seq.*, which provide the statutory and regulatory foundations for long-term nursing facilities. During his residency, the facility failed

to meet the applicable standards of care. As a result, Mr. Taylor suffered from numerous injuries and violations of his rights as a nursing home resident, including falls, pressure ulcers, dehydration and other injuries. Mr. Taylor ultimately died as a result of MHCC's acts and omissions.

Plaintiff, Jeffrey Taylor (Leo Taylor's son), was appointed as Personal Representative of Leo Taylor's estate and subsequently brought the instant action by filing his Complaint with the Kanawha County Circuit Court on January 23, 2009. Defendant MHCC filed its "Motion to Dismiss and Answer" on May 1, 2009. The Motion stated, **in its entirety**:

Plaintiff's decedent agreed to be subject to the terms and conditions of an Admissions Agreement with Marmet Health Care Center, Inc. Under that Admissions Agreement, any claim Plaintiff's decedent had or has against MHCC is subject to binding, final arbitration. This action is therefore precluded and must be dismissed as to MHCC.

A copy of a document purported to be the Admission Agreement was provided by Defendant's counsel. It consisted of thirteen pages of closely spaced type in small font, with blank spaces to fill in the parties' names or to check specific options. [See, Exhibit 1, to Plaintiff's Response to Defendant, MHCC, Inc.'s Motion to Dismiss.] Page 12 of the Agreement contained a paragraph labeled "Mandatory Arbitration" (hereinafter, "Arbitration Clause"), which stated, in full:

MANDATORY ARBITRATION:

Except for Facility's efforts to collect monies due from Resident and Facility's option to discharge Resident for such failure, which the parties agree may be heard by a Court of competent jurisdiction in the city or county where the Facility is located, all disputes and disagreements between Facility and Resident (or their respective successors, assigns or representatives) arising out of the enforcement or interpretation of this Agreement or related hereto or the services provided by Facility hereunder including, without limitation, allegations by Resident of neglect, abuse or negligence which the Resident and Facility are able to resolve

between themselves shall be submitted to binding arbitration in accordance with the *Commercial Arbitration Rules* of the American Arbitration Association then in effect. The party filing the arbitration (making a claim) shall be solely responsible for payment of the initial arbitration filing fee in accordance with the Rules of the American Arbitration Association fee schedules. The arbitrator or arbitrators shall be entitled to award recovery of the arbitration fees, attorney's fees and out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the prevailing party up to a maximum award of \$5000. The arbitrator shall also have the authority to issue interlocutory and final injunctive relief. The arbitrator's decision shall be binding on the parties and conclusive as to the issues addressed, and may be entered as a judgment in a court of competent jurisdiction and not subject to further attack or appeal except in instances of fraud, coercion or manifest error. During the pendency of any arbitration proceeding, Facility and Resident shall continue to perform their respective obligations under this Agreement subject, however, to the right of either part to terminate this Agreement as established herein. The obligation of Facility and Resident to arbitrate their disputes or disagreements shall survive termination of this Agreement.

As is apparent from the title of the provision itself —MANDATORY ARBITRATION— the signing of the provision was a prerequisite to admission. There is no evidence on the record to the contrary. As is also evident from a plain letter reading of the Arbitration Clause, it does not allow for the recovery of punitive damages, it requires Plaintiff to pay an initial arbitration filing fee (which we know from the AAA's Standard Fee Schedule, *infra*, is substantially more expensive than the \$260 Circuit Court Filing Fee), and requires Plaintiff, if he loses, to pay arbitration fees, attorney's fees and out-of pocket expenses incurred. Additionally, and contrary to the misrepresentations made by Defendant's Counsel, there exists no opt-out language in the Arbitration Clause allowing the resident or his legal representative to reconsider his or her alleged consent to arbitration (although such opt-outs do occur elsewhere in the Agreement, making it clear the inability to opt-out of the Arbitration Clause was intentional by its drafters).

Finally, although Leo Taylor and his representative had a right to seek “discharge” from the facility by giving seven (7) days written notice (See page 10 of the Admission Agreement), contrary to Defendant’s misrepresentation to the Court, this provision did not operate to cancel or invalidate the Arbitration Clause (contained on page 13 of the Admission Agreement) as the Arbitration Clause states: “(t)he obligation of Facility and Resident to arbitrate their disputes or disagreements shall survive termination of this Agreement.” (See page 13 of the Admission Agreement).

The most unconscionable term of the Agreement, however, is found in the Arbitration Clause’s very first line, which reserves MHCC’s right to file suit in a Court of law for the only two foreseeable reasons MHCC would be filing suit, collection of money owed and eviction proceedings, while requiring Plaintiff to submit all disputes with the facility to binding arbitration, at his initial expense. In this case, Ellen Taylor, an elderly woman, was not represented by counsel at the time of her husband’s admission to Defendant’s nursing home. Furthermore, her husband’s admission to the facility was conditioned upon her signing the Admission Agreement. There is no evidence that the Arbitration Clause was ever explained to Ellen Taylor advising her that her agreement to the Mandatory Arbitration provision would eliminate rights provided to her husband by applicable state law, including the right to ask for and receive punitive damages or the right to a jury trial. To the contrary, the final section of the Admission Agreement, found at pages 12-13 of the Agreement, contains a check-list to be completed by the resident or his representative confirming that, purportedly, the most important terms of the Agreement were explained to and reviewed with the resident or his legal representative. This check-list contains reference to every essential term of the Agreement, down to and including “Have received information relating to beauty, and barber services.” The check-

list DOES NOT contain an enumerated entry regarding review of the Arbitration Clause or explanation thereof or an understanding of the waiver of rights that it entails.

In adopting a verbatim copy of the Defendants findings of facts and conclusions as its “Order”, the Circuit Court (1) ignored the valid arguments made by Plaintiff, (2) failed to review the record and discover that the Defendant’s purported “facts” were unsupported by the record and in many instances, completely contradicted by it, (3) ignored the prevailing common law of West Virginia with regards to contract formation and enforcement, and finally, (5) ignored the intent of the West Virginia Legislature in creating § 16-5C-15(c) of the West Virginia Nursing Home Act, which makes ANY waiver by a nursing home resident or their legal representative of the right to commence an action against a nursing home null and void. Beyond that, and as will be briefed below, both this Honorable Court and the US Supreme Court have given due attention to the verbatim adoption of the prevailing party’s findings of fact and conclusions of law and do not look favorably upon it.

In short, more than sufficient evidence exists in this case to overturn the Order of the Circuit Court, which is based upon unsupported statements of “fact” and conclusions of law which are contrary to West Virginia law.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

1. The Circuit Court committed reversible error when it adopted as its Order a verbatim copy of MHCC’s findings of fact and conclusions of law, with ‘Fact’ paragraphs 9, 12, 13 and 14 of the Order supported by nothing more than Defense Counsel’s misrepresentations at oral argument, and ‘Conclusion’ paragraphs 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 and 11 being contrary to law, or an incorrect application of it.

Erred Findings of Fact

- a. The Circuit Court erred in finding that the mandatory arbitration clause was mutual, when a plain letter reading of the Arbitration Clause makes clear that while it eviscerated any and all rights of a nursing home resident or their representative to bring suit in a court of law, the Appellee reserved for itself the right to bring action in a court of law for the two reasons it would be most likely to institute litigation: collection of money or eviction of a resident. (See Court's Order, Finding of Fact, paragraph 9)
- b. The Circuit Court erred in finding that Ellen Taylor was "appreciative of the care and attention she received and wanted her husband to be a resident" at Appellee's facility. The record is void of any proof to support this finding, or proof that Ellen Taylor had any other choice of facility, and the finding is otherwise irrelevant in determining whether a valid and enforceable contract was formed. (See Court's Order, Finding of Fact, paragraph 12)
- c. The Circuit Court erred in finding that Ellen Taylor did not have to agree to the mandatory arbitration provision in order to admit her husband to Appellee's facility where the plain language of the arbitration clause makes clear it was mandatory on all residents and their assigns. (See Court's Order, Finding of Fact, paragraph 13)
- d. The Circuit Court erred in finding that Ellen Taylor "chose" to admit her husband into the Appellee's facility, where the record is void of any proof that Mrs. Taylor had any other viable option, and the finding is otherwise irrelevant. (See Court's Order, Finding of Fact, paragraph 14)

Erred Conclusions of Law

- e. In improperly adopting a verbatim copy of MHCC's findings of fact and conclusions of law as its Order, the Circuit Court erred by misstating Plaintiff's argument regarding WV Code § 16-5C-1 (the "Nursing Home Act") (see Conclusions of Law, paragraph 3) and thereby further erred in misapplying the law to a non-existent argument. As the record makes very clear, Plaintiff's argument since the inception of this case was/is that the Nursing Home Act prohibits **any waiver** by a resident or his or her legal representative of the right to commence an action, which is a very different argument than the one misstated by the Court in paragraph 3 of its Conclusions of Law.
- f. In improperly adopting a verbatim copy of MHCC's findings of fact and conclusions of law as its Order, the Circuit Court erred in setting forth Conclusion of Law, paragraph 5, which makes a conclusory statement unsupported by citation to the record or prevailing law. Furthermore, as exemplified by this appeal, Appellant's right to bring suit in a court of law has been waived, which is exactly the conduct the legislature, in drafting WV Code § 16-5C-1, sought to prohibit.
- g. In improperly adopting a verbatim copy of MHCC's findings of fact and conclusions of law as its Order, the Circuit Court erred by misstating Appellant's argument in paragraph 11 of its Conclusions of Law as, "Plaintiff implies the arbitration provision only applies to them and this makes it unconscionable." Even a cursory review of the record before this Court proves that Plaintiff/Appellant NEVER held this extreme position. The Court again erred in concluding, "under the Arbitration Agreement both parties waived their right to

have ANY claim regarding Leo Taylor's case decided by a court of law..." This is absolutely untrue! A plain letter reading of the Mandatory Arbitration agreement makes clear that had the Taylor family decided to withhold payment to MHCC for its services upon discovering the mistreatment, or had MHCC decided to evict Mr. Taylor thereupon, MHCC reserved for itself the right to bring suit on these grounds in a court of law. Finally, the Court erred by relying on a factually inapposite case (See Miller) and failing to apply the factually relevant case (See Arnold v. United Co. Lending Corp., 204 W. Va. 229, 511 S.E.2d 864) which ruled in Appellant's favor.

2. The Circuit Court found it legally and factually insignificant to rule upon, give explanation of or even make reference to the issues of contractual law before it. The Court provided neither facts nor conclusions which revealed its analysis of the facts of THIS CASE, namely whether the mandatory arbitration clause, as it operated in THIS CASE, was adhesive, unconscionable, wrought with gross inadequacy regarding the bargaining positions of the parties and whether it believed Mrs. Taylor intended to be bound by the arbitration clause. Furthermore, the Circuit Court failed to consider or make mention of even ONE case from the large body of West Virginia law in which a Court denied enforcement of an arbitration agreement based upon facts similar to those herein.
3. The Circuit Court erred in failing to analyze whether the Nursing Home Act's requirement of a private right of action is contravened by the effect of the Arbitration Clause under the present facts.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When a trial court grants a motion to dismiss, a reviewing court's standard of review is de novo. Antolini v. W. Va. Div. of Natural Res., 220 W. Va. 255, 257, 647 S.E.2d 535, 537 (2007) (*citing*, Syllabus Point 1, Lipscomb v. Tucker County Comm'n, 197 W.Va. 84, 475 S.E.2d 84 (1996) ("Appellate review of a circuit court's order granting a motion to dismiss an appeal from a decision of a county commission is de novo."); Syllabus Point 2, State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, Inc., 194 W.Va. 770, 461 S.E.2d 516 (1995) ("Appellate review of a circuit court's order granting a motion to dismiss a complaint is de novo.")). Generally, this Court reviews findings of fact for clear error and conclusions of law *de novo*. State of West Virginia ex rel. Thornton Cooper, 196 W. Va. 208, 213, 470 S.E.2d 162, 167 (1996). However, ostensible "findings of fact," which entail the application of law or constitute legal judgments which transcend ordinary factual determinations, must be reviewed *de novo*. *Id.* This includes "mixed questions of law and fact, like pure questions of law, or those involving statutory interpretations." *Id.* quoting Note 5 of Appalachian Power Co. v. State Tax Department of West Virginia 195 W.Va. 573, 466 S.E.2d 424 (1995).

Should the Court choose to employ a 'clear error' or 'clearly erroneous' standard as set forth under West Virginia/Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 52(a) for reviewing findings of fact, the United States Supreme Court had provided a working definition to be employed by this Court: "[a] finding is 'clearly erroneous' when although there is evidence to support it, the reviewing court on the entire evidence is left with the definitive and firm conviction that a mistake has been committed." Anderson v. City of Beszsemer City, North Carolina, 470 U.S. 564, 573, 105 S. Ct. 1504, 1511 (1985).

LAW

I. THE ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT DISMISSING THIS ACTION WAS ERRONEOUS- THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY ADOPTING A VERBATIM COPY OF THE DEFENDANT'S FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW WHICH CONTAINED INCORRECT "FACTS" THAT ARE CONTRADICTED BY THE RECORD AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW WHICH WERE BASED ON MISSTATEMENTS OF FACT AND CONTRARY TO THE LAWS OF WEST VIRGINIA

This Court has often stated that "verbatim adoption of proposed findings and conclusions of law prepared by one party is not the preferred practice" and that "findings of fact should represent the trial judge's own determination." See State ex rel. Cooper, supra, quoting South Side Lumber Co. v. Stone Constr. Co., 151 W. Va. 439, 152 S.E.2d 721 (1967). The U.S. Supreme Court has even commented on this practice, in stating, "We, too, have criticized courts for their verbatim adoption of findings of fact prepared by prevailing parties, particularly when those findings have taken the form of conclusory statements unsupported by citation to the record." See Anderson at 572, 1510.

By adopting a verbatim copy of MHCC's erred findings of fact and conclusions of law as its Order, the Circuit Court's ruling was clearly erroneous as the findings and conclusions were baseless and unfounded on anything contained in the record, or false and contradicted by reliable extrinsic evidence, including the Agreement at issue herein. The Court has committed reversible error by taking many of the statements made by Defendant's counsel at the hearing and adopting them as factual findings, despite them being bare, unsupported assertions without any factual basis in the record. Fact paragraphs 9, 12, 13 and 14 of the Defendant's proposed findings and conclusions filed on September 16, 2009, which doubles as the Court Order, are supported only by what Defense Counsel stated at oral argument, and Conclusion paragraphs 2, 4, 5, 6 and 11 are either contrary to law, or an incorrect application of it.

The most egregious of these errors is the Court's reliance on a misrepresentation made by Defendant to the Court at Oral Argument on August 27, 2009, regarding the costs involved in initiating Arbitration and the additional financial risks imposed by MHCC's Mandatory Arbitration Clause, which are significantly higher than those involved in filing suit in any Circuit Court of West Virginia [See Transcript of Marmet Health Care Center's Motion to Dismiss (pg 24, ln 14).] During Oral Argument, the Court took issue and concern with the difference in filing fees between arbitration and Court filing fees, stating it "make[s] a big difference." Counsel for the Defense falsely assured the Judge there was no difference in the fees, and the Court accepted that assurance as fact.

In truth, the initial filing fee for arbitration, which is due IN FULL at the time of filing, ranges from a fee of \$750 for claims up to \$10,000, to a fee of \$10,200 for claims up to \$10,000,000. Additionally, a 'Case Service Fee' is required to be paid prior to the first hearing, with such fees ranging from \$200 up to \$4,000 depending on the amount of the claim. [See 'Standard Fee Schedule' of the American Arbitration Association's Commercial Arbitration Rules, attached as Exhibit E to Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration] Even the smallest possible claim in front of an arbiter, as made MANDATORY by the Arbitration Clause at issue herein, would cost the resident or legal representative upwards of \$1000 for the filing of a claim, as compared to the \$260 filing fee required by the Circuit Courts of West Virginia.

The error lying herein is that the Court itself stated that a difference in fees would make a big difference in the ruling on this matter, but the Court did no research to determine the validity of MHCC's claim that the cost for arbitration is no different than the Court's filing fees, and instead adopted the Defendant's misstatement as fact. This was clear error on the part of the Court. Furthermore, the Appellee relies on the inapposite 1st Circuit case of Rosenberg v. Merrill

Lynch to support its contention that the costs associated with arbitration are not excessive, despite the Standard Fee schedule that proves otherwise. See Rosenberg v. Merrill Lynch, 170 F.3d 1 (1999). By way of background, which Appellee did not provide, Rosenberg was an employment discrimination case brought pursuant to the Federal Civil Rights Act of 1991, where the Appellate Court ruled in FAVOR of Plaintiff Rosenberg and upheld the lower Court's denial of the Motion to Compel arbitration against her. Despite the denial of arbitration which goes in Appellant's favor, the Rosenberg case is inapplicable inasmuch as objection to the arbitration clause was originally based on claims of "structural bias" in the NYSE arbitral forum. While the 1st Circuit disagreed with the District Court's reasons for denying the Motion to Compel, it ultimately agreed with its holding and arbitration was not ordered. Following this case, Merrill Lynch saw the error of its ways, and as noted by the 1st Cir. Court of Appeals, "Merrill Lynch abandoned its policy of requiring employees to agree to arbitrate employment discrimination claims." Id at 6.

Regarding the overarching Appeal, the high costs involved with initiating arbitration serve to prevent nursing home residents and their representatives from pursuing the claims preserved for them by the West Virginia Legislature under the Nursing Home Act, and the Arbitration Clause's violation of that right relegates it as null and void, being contrary to public policy.

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