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

IV. ARGUMENT

Summary

Appellant's challenge to the Circuit Court's Order of September 29, 2009 rests on: 1) alleged technical defenses to the enforceability of the mandatory arbitration provision in the Admissions Agreement, including West Virginia's Nursing Home Act and other claimed violations of State contract law; 2) alleged error by the Circuit Court in adopting Marmet's proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law; and 3) claims that Appellant was disadvantaged by the timing and content of Marmet's Reply. None of these grounds has merit. West Virginia employs a *de novo* standard of review for the dismissal of claims on arbitrability. **Ruckdeschel v. Falcon Drilling Co.**, 225 W.Va. 450, 693 S.E.2d 815 (2010). West Virginia law presumes that an arbitration agreement is a valid, binding contract, which was bargained for and intended to be exclusive. This Court has held its review is limited to determining whether there is

a valid agreement to arbitrate and whether the claims at issue fall within the scope of the arbitration provision. **Ruckdeschel**. Both are true here.

Nothing in West Virginia's Nursing Home Act alters basic contract law here or the enforceability of arbitration provisions. Mrs. Taylor knowingly and voluntarily admitted Mr. Taylor to Marmet and signed the Admissions Agreement, which included the arbitration provision. During the time Mr. Taylor was a resident of Marmet (which included time Mrs. Taylor was also resident at Marmet), Mrs. Taylor had ample opportunity to review the care and treatment received by Mr. Taylor and could have removed him from Marmet if she chose to do so. Mrs. Taylor agreed, as attorney in fact, to arbitrate any disagreement regarding Mr. Taylor's care. Appellant's claims here relate solely to Mr. Taylor's health care. If any prejudice was created by Marmet's Reply, it was caused by the timing and breadth of Appellant's Response to the Motion to Dismiss. Appellant did not file his Response until four (4) months after Marmet filed its Motion to Dismiss and only three (3) days before the hearing. Finally, Appellant has failed to show that the Circuit Court's Order and decision to uphold the arbitration provision is clearly against the evidence or in conflict with West Virginia law. For these reasons, the Court should affirm the Circuit Court's Order.

A. The Circuit Court's Adoption Of Marmet's Proposed Order Was Proper.

1. West Virginia recognizes the Federal Arbitration Act supersedes State Law.

Contrary to Appellant's assertion, contractual arbitration provisions are not prohibited by West Virginia's Nursing Home Act, or otherwise. West Virginia recognizes The FAA embodies a 'strong federal public policy in favor of enforcing arbitration agreements' and is designed to 'ensure judicial enforcement of privately made agreements to arbitrate.' **Adkins v. Labor Ready, Inc.**, 185 F.Supp.2d 628, 633 (S.D.W.Va. 2001) (citing **Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc. v.**

Byrd, 470 U.S. 213, 217-219 (1985). West Virginia has specifically affirmed that the Federal Arbitration Act, as a matter of federal law, pre-empts state law and state courts cannot apply state statutes to invalidate arbitration agreements. See, **State ex rel. Wells v. Matish**, 600 S.E.2d 583 (W.Va. 2004), (per curiam), fn 7, citing **Allied-Bruce Terminix Cos., Inc. v. Dobson**, 513 U.S. 265, 272 (1995) affirming **Southland Corp. v Keating**, 465 U.S. 1 (1984).

This Court opined recently that the FAA is an express declaration by Congress favoring arbitration of disputes and found there is “ ‘ nothing in the Act indicating that the broad principle of enforceability is subject to any additional limitations under state law’ and that the ‘Congress intended to foreclose state legislative attempt to undercut the enforceability of arbitration agreements.’ “ See, **State of West Virginia ex rel. Jill Clites v. Honorable Russell M. Clawges, et. al.**, 685 S.E.2d 693, 698 (W.Va. 2008), citing **Moses H. Cone Memorial Hospital v. Mercury Construction Corp.** 460 U.S. 1, 24 (1983), **Southland Corporation v. Keating**, 465 U.S. 1, 11 (1984) and **Perry v. Thomas**, 482 U.S. 483 (1987). The United States Supreme Court, in the recent case of **Preston v. Ferrer**, 128 S.Ct. 978, 9897 (2008) has made it clear that (“[w]hen parties agree to arbitrate all questions arising under a contract, the FAA supersedes state laws lodging primary jurisdiction in another forum, whether judicial or administrative.”). See also, **State v. Matish**, 600 S.E.2d 583 (W.Va. 2004) (plaintiff does not forgo any substantive rights under arbitration).

Moreover, West Virginia recognizes that state statutes cannot, in effect, prohibit arbitration. “A court may not then, in assessing the rights of litigants to enforce an arbitration agreement, construe that agreement in a manner different from that in which it otherwise construes non-arbitration agreements under state law. Nor may a court rely on the uniqueness of an agreement to arbitrate as a basis for a state-law holding that enforcement would be

unconscionable, for this would enable the court to effect what we hold today the state legislature cannot.” **Clites at 699, citing Moses H. Cone, at 23.**

As to parties who have agreed to arbitrate, the arbitration provision is binding and enforceable on all causes of action arising under a contract. Further, it is presumed that parties intended to arbitrate where a contract so provides and that arbitration was intended to be the exclusive means of resolving disputes arising under the contract. **Board of Education of the County of Berkeley v. W. Harley Miller, Inc., 236 S.E.2nd 439 (W.Va. 1977).** Appellant ignores these controlling authorities, which have been throughout, a basis of Marmet’s position. Instead, Appellant posits that Marmet ... “relies on **Preston v. Ferrer**, 552 U.S. 346 (2008) as its saving grace and sole source of support for its contentions.” (Emphasis added.) Once again, Appellant must believe that this Court is unwilling or unable to: read the voluminous authorities Marmet cited to support its position; and to acknowledge that **Preston**, is the most recent United States Supreme Court decision in a long line of decisions affirming “a national policy favoring arbitration” of claims that parties contract to settle in that manner. This policy is succinctly stated by Justice Ginsberg, writing for the majority (Justice Thomas dissenting), in **Preston**:

Section 2 of the FAA ‘declare[s] a national policy favoring arbitration’ of claims that parties contract to settle in that manner. *Southland Corp.*, 465 U. S., at 10. That national policy, we held in *Southland*, ‘appli[es] in state as well as federal courts’ and ‘foreclose[s] state legislative attempts to undercut the enforceability of arbitration agreements.’ *Id.*, at 16. The FAA’s displacement of conflicting state law is ‘now well-established,’ *Allied-Bruce Terminix Cos. v. Dobson*, 513 U. S. 265, 272 (1995), and has been repeatedly reaffirmed, see, e.g., *Buckeye*, 546 U. S., at 445-446; *Doctor’s Associates, Inc. v. Casarotto*, 517 U. S. 681, 684-685 (1996); *Perry v. Thomas*, 482 U. S. 483, 489 (1987). **Preston**, at 349.

Moreover, the majority in **Preston** specifically rejected the opportunity to overrule its prior decisions concerning the FAA and its preemptive effect. In footnote 2, Justice Ginsberg opined “Although **Ferrer** urges us to overrule *Southland*, he relies on the same arguments we

considered and rejected in *Allied-Bruce Terminix Cos. v. Dobson*, 513 U. S. 265 (1995)...

Adhering to precedent, we do not take up Ferrer's invitation to overrule *Southland*."

Finally, Appellant ignores the substantial authority in many other jurisdictions which have upheld arbitration provisions in nursing home contracts. See for example, **Owens v. Coosa Valley Health Care, Inc.**, 890 So. 2d 983 (Alabama 2004) and **Briarcliff Nursing Home, Inc. v. Turcotte**, 894 So. 2d 661 (Alabama 2004); **McGuffey Health and Rehabilitation Center v. Gibson**, 864 So2d 1061 (S.C. Alabama 2003) ;**Mathews v. Life Care Ctrs. of America, Inc.**, 177 P.3d 867 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2008); **Moffett v. Life Care Centers of America, Inc.**, 2008 WL 2053067 (Colo. Ct. App. May 15, 2008); **Northport Health Services of Arkansas, LLC v. Robinson**, 2009 WL 140983 (W.D. Ark.); **Triad Health Management of Georgia, III, LLC v. Johnson**, 679 S.E.2d 785 (Ga. 2009); **Sanford v. Castleton Health Care Center, LLC**, 813 N.E.2d 411 (Indiana 2004) rehearing denied, 2004; **Miller v. Cotter**, 671 N.E. 2d 537 (Mass. 2007); **Community Care Center of Vicksburg, LLC v. Mason**, 966 So. 2d 220 (Ct. of App. Mississippi 2007); **Raper v. Oliver House, LLC**, 637 S.E.2d 551 (N.C. App. 2006) **Rainbow Health Care Center, Inc., v. Crutcher**, 2008 WL 268321, p.2 and 8. (N.D. Okla.)(not published); **Hayes v. The Oakridge Home**, 908 N.E. 2d 408 (Ohio 2009); **Mannion v. Manor Care Inc.**, 2006 WL 6012873 (Pa.Com.Pl.); **Philpot v. Tennessee Health Management, Inc.**, 279 S.W.3d 573 (Tenn. Ct.App. 2007), appeal denied; **Estate of Eckstein ex rel. Luckey v. Life Care Centers of America, Inc.**, 623 F.Supp.2d 1235 (E.D. Wash. 2009).

Appellant's argument that W.Va. Code § 16-5C-15, et. seq., prohibits nursing home residents or their legal representatives from entering into arbitration agreements with a nursing home facility is in direct conflict with mandatory Supreme Court precedent and must be rejected.

2. West Virginia recognizes the right to arbitrate and WV Code § 16-5C-15(c) does not prohibit an agreement to arbitrate.

Appellant argues that West Virginia's Nursing Home Act prohibits arbitration provisions in the nursing home context, but provides no West Virginia case citation in support. This is because there is nothing in the nursing home statute to prohibit such agreement and no decision which supports that conclusion. WV Code § 16-5C-1 et. seq. provides that nursing homes "shall be liable" for any right or benefit denied to its residents and that any waiver by a resident or his legal representative of the right to commence an action shall be null and void. W.Va. Code §§ 16-5C-1 and 16-5C-15 (c). These sections refer to **the right to bring an action**. They do not dictate the forum for the action, or the rules governing it. Mrs. Taylor did not waive the right to commence an action, she simply agreed on where and how it would be adjudicated.

West Virginia has also rejected the argument that statutory claims are exempt from arbitration provisions. Recently this Court opined that by agreeing to "arbitrate a statutory claim, a party does not forgo the substantive rights afforded by the statute; it only submits to their resolution in an arbitral, rather than a judicial forum." See, **Wells v. Matish**, 600 S.E.2d 583, 590-591(W.Va. 2004) and **State of West Virginia ex rel. Jill Clites v. Honorable Russell M. Clawges, et. al.**, 685 S.E.2d 693, 699 (W.VA. 2008), citing **Mitsubishi Motors Corp. v. Soler Chrysler-Plymouth, Inc.**, 473 U.S. 614, 628 (1985). Other courts have also considered and rejected Appellant's argument. See, **Slusser v. Life Care Center of America, Inc.**, 977 So.2d 662 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 4th 2008) (arbitration agreement not unconscionable even though it waived the resident's access to the courts) and **Bland v. Health Care and Retirement Corp.**, 927 So 2d 252 (Fla. Ct. App. 2006); **Northport Health Services of Arkansas, LLC v. Robinson**, 2009 WL 140983 (W.D. Ark.)(statute does not preclude an agreement to arbitrate); **Sanford v. Castleton Health Care Center, LLC**, 813 N.E.2d 411 (Ind. App. Ct. 2004) (right to a jury may be waived in a nursing home contract by agreement of parties); **Bedford Health**

Properties, LLC v. Davis, 2008 WL 5220594 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) (admission agreement did not alter the patient's legal rights in providing for mutually agreed-upon forum for the parties to litigate their claims); and **Philpot v. Tennessee Health Management, Inc.**, 279 S.W.3d 573 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2007) appeal denied, (agreement to arbitrate was not unconscionable even though there could have been a circumstance in which the resident, but not the nursing home, would have a claim subject to compelled arbitration.)

3. The Court properly found the Contract valid and enforceable.

Appellant argues the Circuit Court failed to address the question of whether the contract was valid under West Virginia Law. This is simply not true. The Circuit Court did address the validity of the contract and the arguments raised by the Appellant. Here, as before the Circuit Court, the Appellant has argued that the contract is not enforceable because the agreement is unfair, unconscionable and one of adhesion. The Circuit Court rejected these arguments after hearing the facts and properly applying West Virginia law. See, Conclusions of Law, Paragraphs 9, 10 and 11.

The Appellant tries to paint a sinister picture of the circumstances surrounding the admission of Mr. Taylor. However, there is no evidence supporting that conclusion. Appellant argues that Marmet has a "monopolistic or oligopolistic position in some particular line of commerce ..." that would make this a contract of adhesion. There is no evidence offered to support that claim. It is simply not true. The Charleston phonebook in 2006 listed fourteen nursing home facilities in the area. There was no evidence presented that Mrs. Taylor tried, but was unsuccessful, to admit Mr. Taylor to any of them. There is no evidence that Mrs. Taylor could not have taken Mr. Taylor to any of them, or moved him there at any time. Mrs. Taylor knew about Marmet and the care provided there. She chose to take her husband there when he

need care. She chose Marmet for her rehabilitative care. Nothing in the record suggests Mrs. Taylor was unable to understand the contract. And there is no evidence to suggest she was under duress or was coerced when signing the agreement. The evidence is to the contrary. The arbitration agreement is conspicuous and preceded by a paragraph setting forth the resident's right to consult with a lawyer. The contract does not favor Marmet. In fact, it expressly references all the many rights available to Mr. Taylor, including filing any grievances with the director of Social Services, State Department of Health, Long-term Care Ombudsman or the Nursing Home Advisory Committee, as well as the right to have his room reserved for medical and non-medical leaves of absence. Mrs. Taylor need provide only seven (7) days' notice in the case of a voluntary discharge, while Marmet was required to give thirty (30) days' notice. Mrs. Taylor also acknowledged by specifically initialing several places on the agreement that she had received information on outside healthcare providers and services; Marmet's policies regarding treatment options; advanced directives and use of restraints; Medicaid benefit coverage information; care plan conference notification information; and federal patient privacy rights. Further, the arbitration agreement places the same obligation and conditions upon both Appellant and Marmet. It does not limit or expand discovery or any rights of either party; it provides for the recovery of fees up to \$5000; and it does not limit damages, punitive or otherwise.

To prove a contract provision is unconscionable, a party must prove that there was a "gross inadequacy in bargaining power" and "terms unreasonably favorable to the stronger party." **Troy Mining Corp. v. Itmann Coal Co.**, 346 S.E.2d 749 (W.Va. 1986). Mere inequity of bargaining power alone does not indicate an unconscionable contract." **Adkins**, 185 F.Supp.2d 636. *Even contracts of adhesion, or form contracts are not necessarily invalid as unconscionable. See, State of West Virginia ex rel. Jill Clites v. Honorable Russell M.*

Clawges, et. al., 685 S.E.2d 693 (W.Va. 2009). A court assumes that a party to a contract has read and assented to its terms and agreed to be bound by it, absent fraud, misrepresentation, or duress. However, if a party alleges that an arbitration provision was unconscionable or was thrust upon him because he was unwary and taken advantage of, or that the contract was one of adhesion, the question of whether an arbitration provision was bargained for and valid is a matter of law for the court to determine by reference to the entire contract, the nature of the contracting parties, and the nature of the undertakings covered by the contract. See, **Clites**, p. 700, citing **Board of Ed. v. Miller**, 236 S.E.2d 439 (W.Va. 1977). One must consider the totality of circumstances, such as the Circuit Court did here, and conclude it is fair and proper to enforce the agreement the parties have reached. See, for example, **Miller v. Equifirst Corporation of WV**, 2006 WL 2571634 (S.D.W.Va. 2006) and **Schultz v. AT&T**, 376 F.Supp.2d 685 (N.D.W.Va. 2005). This determination must be affirmed unless clearly wrong. It is not.

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